Chiral Liouville Gravity

Geoffrey Compère*[⋄], Wei Song* and Andrew Strominger*[†]

*Center for the Fundamental Laws of Nature, Harvard University,

Cambridge, MA, USA

> Physique Théorique et Mathématique, Université Libre de Bruxelles,

Bruxelles, Belgium

†Radcliffe Institute for Advanced Study, Cambridge, MA, USA

March 13, 2013

Abstract

Classical two-dimensional Liouville gravity is often considered in conformal gauge which has a residual left and right Virasoro symmetry algebra. We consider an alternate, chiral, gauge which has a residual right Virasoro Kac-Moody algebra, and no left Virasoro algebra. The Kac-Moody zero mode is the left-moving energy. Dirac brackets of the constrained Hamiltonian theory are derived, and the residual symmetries are shown to be generated by integrals of the conserved chiral currents. The central charge and Kac-Moody level are computed. The possible existence of a corresponding quantum theory is discussed.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Covariant action	4
3	Chiral gauge	5
	3.1 Gauge condition	
	3.2 Residual symmetries	
	3.3 Geometry	
	3.4 Stress tensor and Noether current	. 7
	3.5 Bäcklund transformation	. 8
4	Canonical formalism	9
	4.1 Unconstrained Poisson brackets	. 9
	4.2 Constrained Dirac brackets	
	4.3 Charges	. 12
5	Coupling to matter	12
6	Quantum theory	13

1 Introduction

Critical behavior in two spacetime dimensions is often associated with the emergence of an infinite-dimensional conformal symmetry group [1]. These symmetries act infinitesimally on the spacetime coordinates t^{\pm} as

$$\delta t^+ = \epsilon^+(t^+), \qquad \delta t^- = \epsilon^-(t^-). \tag{1.1}$$

The Lie bracket algebra of these symmetries is two copies of the (centerless) Virasoro algebra. Such critical behavior has powerful consequences and arises in a wide variety of physical and mathematical systems. In the last few years, indications have been accumulating [2–14] of another possible type of two-dimensional critical behavior with an infinite-dimensional symmetry group, sometimes referred to as warped conformal symmetry. Warped conformal symmetries act infinitesimally on the spacetime coordinates t^{\pm} in the chiral fashion

$$\delta t^+ = \epsilon(t^+), \qquad \delta t^- = \sigma(t^+). \tag{1.2}$$

The Lie bracket algebra here consists of one chiral Virasoro-Kac-Moody algebra. The Virasoro zero mode generates right translations while the Kac-Moody zero mode generates left translations. So far there has been no clear example in which this critical behavior is nontrivially realized. In this paper we address this issue by the construction of a chiral analog of Liouville theory with warped conformal symmetry at the semiclassical level. The full quantum problem is left for future work.

The standard conformal symmetry (1.1) emerges in both gravitational and non-gravitational systems.¹ We consider here the gravitational context. Theories of gravity by definition transform covariantly under all diffeomorphisms. In conformal gauge the metric is required to obey

$$g_{--} = g_{++} = 0. (1.3)$$

This condition is preserved by the subgroup of two-dimensional diffeomorphisms of the form (1.1). This implies [15, 16] that the resulting gravity theory is equivalent to a conformal field theory without gravity in which the unconstrained component of the metric g_{+-} serves as one of the fields.

Instead of (1.3) we here impose "chiral gauge"²

$$g_{--} = 0, \qquad \partial_{-}(g^{+-}g_{++}) = 0.$$
 (1.4)

This condition is violated by the usual conformal symmetries (1.1), but preserved by the warped conformal symmetries (1.2). This implies that the resulting gravity theory is equivalent to a warped conformal field theory without gravity in which the unconstrained components of the metric serve as fields. We work out the details for the example of Liouville gravity (see [18–20]), beginning from the covariant Polyakov action [21]. Gauge fixing this covariant theory results in a chiral version of the standard Liouville theory.

This paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we review the nonlocal but covariant Polyakov action for Liouville gravity. In section 3 we impose the

¹In non gravitational systems, it emerges as an enhanced symmetry at a critical point, while in gravitational systems it is a subgroup of the diffeomorhpisms which acts nontrivially.

²This gauge is similar to, though different than, the light cone gauge $g_{--} = 0 = \partial_{\pm}g_{+-}$ adopted in KPZ [17], who found a chiral SL(2,R) Virasoro-Kac-Moody. Our Kac-Moody current $(j_{\sigma}$ below) is closely related to one of the KPZ SL(2,R) currents. The relation of our results to theirs remains to be explored.

chiral gauge condition and derive a local action with constraints. The two Noether currents associated to the residual Kac-Moody-Virasoro are shown to be conserved, chiral and given by appropriate components of the stress tensor. The theory is shown to be integrable via a Bäcklund transformation to free fields. Section 4 gives the Hamiltonian formalism on surfaces of constant t^- . Dirac brackets following from the constraints are constructed. In principle the quantum theory is defined by by replacing these brackets with quantum commutators. The charges are shown, under the Dirac bracket, to obey a Kac-Moody-Virasoro algebra and the central charge and level are computed. In section 5 an infinite class of generalizations involving matter are described. Section 6 closes with comments on the quantum theory.

In a holographically dual companion paper [22], we consider the problem of $SL(2,R)_L \times SL(2,R)_R$ Chern-Simons gravity on AdS₃. It is well known [23] that, with the usual Brown-Henneuax AdS₃ boundary conditions, this is dual to ordinary Liouville theory on the boundary. We find a new, chiral set of AdS₃ boundary conditions for which the asymptotic symmetry group is generated by a Virasoro-Kac-Moody algebra. Applying these boundary conditions to Chern-Simons gravity on AdS₃ gives exactly the chiral Liouville theory discussed in this paper. Hence the bulk and boundary analyses are compatible.

2 Covariant action

Two dimensional Liouville gravity can be described by the nonlocal Polyakov action [21]

$$S_L^0 = \frac{c}{96\pi} \int d^2x (Z\mathcal{R} - 2\Lambda\sqrt{-g}), \qquad (2.1)$$

where

$$\mathcal{R} \equiv \sqrt{-g}R,$$

$$Z(x) \equiv \int d^2x' G(x, x') \mathcal{R}(x'),$$

$$\sqrt{-g} g^{ab} \nabla_a \nabla_b G(x, x') = \delta^2(x, x'). \tag{2.2}$$

The stress tensor defined by the metric variations of this action is³

$$\frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S_L^0}{\delta g^{ab}} \equiv T_{ab}^0$$

$$= \frac{c}{48} \left(2g_{ab} \nabla^2 Z - 2\nabla_a \nabla_b Z + \Lambda g_{ab} + \nabla_a Z \nabla_b Z - \frac{1}{2} g_{ab} \nabla_c Z \nabla^c Z \right). \tag{2.3}$$

The trace of the stress tensor is the local expression

$$T^{0a}_{\ a} = \frac{c}{24}(R + \Lambda).$$
 (2.4)

3 Chiral gauge

3.1 Gauge condition

Liouville gravity is often considered in conformal gauge where Z reduces to the logarithm of the conformal factor, S_L^0 is local and the residual symmetry algebra consists of a left and a right Virasoro. Here we consider instead chiral gauge

$$q_{--} = 0, (3.1)$$

$$\partial_{-}(g^{+-}g_{++}) = 0. (3.2)$$

It is easy to see any metric can be locally put into chiral gauge. (3.1) implies the metric can be written as

$$ds^{2} = -e^{2\rho}(dt^{+}dt^{-} - h(dt^{+})^{2}).$$
(3.3)

Imposing (3.2) further implies

$$\partial_{-}h = 0. (3.4)$$

We have used the relations $\delta \mathcal{R} = \sqrt{-g} \nabla^a (\nabla^b \delta g_{ab} - g^{bc} \nabla_a \delta g_{bc})$ and $\delta G(x, x') = -\int d^2 x'' G(x, x') \delta(\sqrt{-g} \nabla^2) G(x, x'')$.

3.2 Residual symmetries

The full gauge conditions (3.1) and (3.2) leave unfixed a residual symmetry generated by two right-moving (t^+ -dependent) functions

$$\delta t^+ = \epsilon(t^+), \quad \delta t^- = \sigma(t^+). \tag{3.5}$$

The symmetry algebra is a right-moving Virasoro Kac-Moody. The Kac-Moody zero mode is left translations. Under the residual symmetries, the fields transform as

$$\delta \rho = -\frac{1}{2} \partial_{+} \epsilon - \epsilon \partial_{+} \rho - \sigma \partial_{-} \rho, \tag{3.6}$$

$$\delta h = \partial_{+}\sigma - h\partial_{+}\epsilon - \epsilon\partial_{+}h - [\sigma\partial_{-}h]. \tag{3.7}$$

Here and below we write in square brackets terms which vanish only when the second gauge condition $\partial_{-}h = 0$ in (3.2) is imposed.

(3.2) eliminates the usual left-moving Virasoro. However the left translational zero mode remains. It is convenient to study the theory in a fixed sector for this zero mode. This is facilitated by adding to the action a term

$$S_L = S_L^0 + \frac{\Delta}{4\pi} \int d^2x \sqrt{-g} g^{--} = S_L^0 - \frac{\Delta}{2\pi} \int d^2x h.$$
 (3.8)

The g^{--} equation of motion then gives

$$T_{--} = T_{--}^0 + \frac{\Delta}{2} = 0 \tag{3.9}$$

where the constant $\Delta/2$ is the left-moving energy density.

3.3 Geometry

The nonzero connection coefficients for a metric of the form (3.3) are

$$\Gamma_{++}^{+} = 2\partial_{+}\rho + 2h\partial_{-}\rho + [\partial_{-}h],
\Gamma_{--}^{-} = 2\partial_{-}\rho,
\Gamma_{-+}^{-} = -2h\partial_{-}\rho - [\partial_{-}h],
\Gamma_{++}^{-} = 2h\partial_{+}\rho - \partial_{+}h + 4h^{2}\partial_{-}\rho + [2h\partial_{-}h],$$
(3.10)

and the Ricci density is

$$\mathcal{R} = 4\partial_{-}\partial_{+}\rho + 4h\partial_{-}^{2}\rho + [4\partial_{-}h\partial_{-}\rho + 2\partial_{-}^{2}h] = -2\sqrt{-g}\nabla^{2}\rho + [2\partial_{-}^{2}h]. \quad (3.11)$$

Z is then

$$Z(x) = -2\rho(x) + \left[2 \int d^2x' G(x, x') \partial_-^2 h(x')\right]. \tag{3.12}$$

The action reduces to (up to boundary terms)

$$S_{L} = \frac{c}{12\pi} \int d^{2}x \Big(\partial_{+}\rho \partial_{-}\rho - \frac{\Lambda}{8} e^{2\rho} + h(\partial_{-}\rho)^{2} - \frac{6}{c} h \Delta + [\partial_{-}h\partial_{-}\rho + \frac{1}{2} \int d^{2}x' \partial_{-}^{2} h(x) G(x, x') \partial_{-}^{2} h(x')] \Big).$$
(3.13)

3.4 Stress tensor and Noether current

The stress-tensor (2.3) is, when $\partial_{-}h = 0$,

$$T_{++}^{0} = -\frac{c}{12} \Big((\partial_{+}\rho)^{2} - \partial_{+}^{2}\rho - 4h(\partial_{-}\partial_{+}\rho - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{+}\rho\partial_{-}\rho) - \frac{\Lambda}{4}he^{2\rho} \\ -\partial_{+}h\partial_{-}\rho - 4h^{2}(\partial_{-}^{2}\rho - \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{-}\rho)^{2}) \Big),$$

$$T_{+-}^{0} = -\frac{c}{12} \Big(\partial_{+}\partial_{-}\rho + \frac{\Lambda}{8}e^{2\rho} + 2h\partial_{-}^{2}\rho - h(\partial_{-}\rho)^{2} \Big),$$

$$T_{--}^{0} = -\frac{c}{12} \Big((\partial_{-}\rho)^{2} - \partial_{-}^{2}\rho \Big).$$
(3.14)

The Noether procedure leads to the following conserved currents

$$j_{\epsilon}^{-} = \frac{c}{6} \left((\partial_{+}\rho)^{2} - \partial_{+}^{2}\rho + 2h(\partial_{+}\rho\partial_{-}\rho - \partial_{+}\partial_{-}\rho) - \partial_{+}h\partial_{-}\rho \right), \quad (3.15)$$

$$j_{\sigma}^{-} = \frac{c}{6}h\Big((\partial_{-}\rho)^{2} - \partial_{-}^{2}\rho\Big) + h\Delta, \tag{3.16}$$

$$j_{\sigma}^{+} = \frac{c}{6} \left((\partial_{-}\rho)^{2} - \partial_{-}^{2}\rho \right) - \Delta, \tag{3.17}$$

$$j_{\varepsilon}^{+} = -hj_{\sigma}^{+}, \tag{3.18}$$

which can be summarized in terms of the total stress tensor,

$$T_{ab} = T_{ab}^{0} + \Delta \begin{pmatrix} h^{2} & -\frac{3}{2}h \\ -\frac{h}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix}_{ab}$$
 (3.19)

as

$$j_{\epsilon}^{a} = e^{2\rho} T_{-}^{a}, \qquad j_{\sigma}^{a} = e^{2\rho} T_{+}^{a}.$$
 (3.20)

Here indices are raised with the full metric (3.3). The full T_{ab} is not symmetric because of the asymmetric function of the metric added to the action in (3.8). After imposing the equation $T_{--} = 0$, $j_{\epsilon}^{+} = j_{\sigma}^{+} = 0$ we are left with two rightmoving conserved currents

$$\partial_{-}j_{\epsilon}^{-} = 0,$$

$$\partial_{-}j_{\sigma}^{-} = 0,$$
(3.21)

associated to the residual symmetries.

In the familiar conformal gauge treatment, the vanishing of the trace $T_{+-}=0$ is imposed as an equation of motion, but one cannot set $T_{--}=0$ or $T_{++}=0$ because this condition is not invariant under the residual Virasoro symmetries. This can be variously understood as due to the conformal anomaly or to the fact that the Virasoro subgroup of the diffeomorphisms generates the nontrivial asymptotic symmetry group. In either case, the weaker conditions $\partial_+ T_{--}=0$ and $\partial_- T_{++}=0$ follow from the trace equation. In our case the conditions $j_{\epsilon}^-=0$ or $j_{\sigma}^-=0$ are not invariant under the residual Virasoro-Kac-Moody and cannot be imposed. However the trace equation $R+\Lambda=0$ as well as $T_{--}=0$ are invariant under the residual symmetry and can be imposed. These then imply the chiral conservation laws (3.21).

3.5 Bäcklund transformation

Chiral Liouville gravity, like its conformal gauge cousin, is integrable. Here we demonstrate this by mapping to a set of free fields. The Bäcklund transformation is

$$e^{2\rho} = -\frac{8}{\Lambda} \sqrt{\frac{6\Delta}{c}} e^{2O} \left(\cosh \left(\sqrt{\frac{6\Delta}{c}} (t^{-} - P) \right) - \sinh \left(\sqrt{\frac{6\Delta}{c}} (t^{-} - P) \right) \int e^{2O} \right)^{-2},$$

$$h = \partial_{+} P, \tag{3.22}$$

where $\partial_+ \int e^{2O} = e^{2O}$. The equations of motion $R = -\Lambda$ and $T_{--} = 0$ then reduce to the free field equations

$$\partial_{-}O = 0, \quad \partial_{-}P = 0. \tag{3.23}$$

Evaluating the currents with the ansatze (3.22) reveals

$$j_{\epsilon}^{-} = \frac{c}{6} \Big((\partial_{+} O)^{2} - \partial_{+}^{2} O \Big) - \Delta (\partial_{+} P)^{2}, \tag{3.24}$$

$$j_{\sigma}^{-} = 2\Delta \delta^{-+} \partial_{+} P. \tag{3.25}$$

4 Canonical formalism

In this section we use t^- as time and derive the constrained Hamiltonian theory. For this purpose we may use the action

$$S_L = \frac{c}{12\pi} \int d^2x \left(\partial_+ \rho \partial_- \rho - \frac{\Lambda}{8} e^{2\rho} + h(\partial_- \rho)^2 + [\partial_- h \partial_- \rho] - \frac{6}{c} h \Delta \right). \tag{4.1}$$

The term in square brackets cannot be dropped even though it vanishes for $\partial_-h=0$ because it affects the linear h variation. However we can drop the last, nonlocal term appearing in (3.13) because it vanishes quadratically on the constraint submanifold $\partial_-h=0$ and hence has no effect on the final formulae. In the next subsection we give the Poisson brackets for the unconstrained theory with $h=h(t^+,t^-)$. In the following one we find and impose the constraints and construct the corresponding Dirac brackets. In the last one we verify that the canonical charges generate the residual symmetries.

4.1 Unconstrained Poisson brackets

The (rescaled) canonical mometa are defined as

$$\frac{12\pi}{c} \frac{\delta S_L}{\delta \partial_- \rho} \equiv \Pi_\rho = (\partial_+ \rho + 2h\partial_- \rho + \partial_- h),
\frac{12\pi}{c} \frac{\delta S_L}{\delta \partial_- h} \equiv \Pi_h = \partial_- \rho.$$
(4.2)

This can be inverted to give the time derivatives of the coordinates in terms of the momenta as

$$\partial_{-}\rho = \Pi_{h}, \quad \partial_{-}h = \Pi_{\rho} - \partial_{+}\rho - 2h\Pi_{h}.$$
 (4.3)

The Poisson brackets are

$$\{\rho(t^+), \Pi_{\rho}(s^+)\} = \frac{12\pi}{c}\delta(t^+ - s^+),$$
 (4.4)

$$\{h(t^+), \Pi_h(s^+)\} = \frac{12\pi}{c}\delta(t^+ - s^+),$$
 (4.5)

$$\{h, \Pi_{\rho}\} = \{h, \rho\} = \{\rho, \Pi_{h}\} = \{\Pi_{h}, \Pi_{\rho}\} = 0.$$
 (4.6)

The Hamiltonian is

$$H = \int dt^{+} (\Pi_{h} \Pi_{\rho} - \Pi_{h} \partial_{+} \rho - h \Pi_{h}^{2} + \frac{\Lambda}{8} e^{2\rho} + \frac{\Delta}{k} h). \tag{4.7}$$

4.2 Constrained Dirac brackets

Now we restrict to a constrained submanifold of phase space on which

$$C_1 \equiv \partial_- h = \Pi_\rho - \partial_+ \rho - 2h\Pi_h = 0. \tag{4.8}$$

The condition $C_1 = 0$ is not preserved by the equations of motion following from (4.1), or equivalently does not commute with the unconstrained Hamiltonian. The vanishing of the commutator requires the second constraint

$$C_2 \equiv \partial_+ \Pi_h - \frac{6}{c} \Delta h + h \Pi_h^2 + \frac{\Lambda}{8} e^{2\rho} = 0.$$
 (4.9)

The submanifold of phase space defined by $C_1 = C_2 = 0$ is preserved by unconstrained Hamiltonian evolution.

The Poisson brackets of constraints with themselves, fields and momenta are

$$\frac{c}{12\pi} \{C_1(t^+), C_1(s^+)\} = -2\partial_{t^+}\delta(t^+ - s^+),
\frac{c}{12\pi} \{C_2(t^+), C_2(s^+)\} = \partial_{t^+}\delta(t^+ - s^+) \left(\frac{12}{c}\Delta - \Pi_h^2(s^+) - \Pi_h^2(t^+)\right),
\frac{c}{12\pi} \{C_1(t^+), C_2(s^+)\} = 2\partial_{t^+}(\Pi_h(t^+)\delta(t^+ - s^+)) - \frac{24}{c}h\Delta\delta(t^+ - s^+),
-2C_2(t^+)\delta(t^+ - s^+),
\frac{c}{12\pi} \{h(t^+), C_1(s^+)\} = -2h(s^+)\delta(t^+ - s^-),
\frac{c}{12\pi} \{h(t^+), C_2(s^+)\} = \partial_{s^+}\delta(t^+ - s^+) + 2h(t^+)\Pi_h(t^+)\delta(t^+ - s^+),
\frac{c}{12\pi} \{\rho(t^+), C_1(s^+)\} = \delta(t^+ - s^+),
\{\rho(t^+), C_2(s^+)\} = 0,
\frac{c}{12\pi} \{\Pi_h(t^+), C_1(s^+)\} = 2\Pi_h(s^+)\delta(t^+ - s^-),
\frac{c}{12\pi} \{\Pi_h(t^+), C_2(s^+)\} = (\frac{6}{c}\Delta - \Pi_h^2(t^+))\delta(t^+ - s^+),
\frac{c}{12\pi} \{\Pi_\rho(t^+), C_1(s^+)\} = -\partial_{t^+}\delta(t^+ - s^+),
\frac{c}{12\pi} \{\Pi_\rho(t^+), C_2(s^+)\} = -\frac{\Lambda}{4} e^{2\rho}\delta(t^+ - s^+).$$
(4.10)

The general formula for Dirac brackets is

$$[A, B] = \{A, B\} - \{A, C_i\} \{C_i, C_j\}^{-1} \{C_j, B\}.$$
(4.11)

In our case the quantities

$$b^{ij}(t,s) \equiv \frac{12\pi}{c} \{C_i(s), C_j(t)\}^{-1}$$
(4.12)

are determined by the partial differential equations

$$\delta(t-w) = -2\partial_t \Big(b^{11}(t,w) - \Pi_h(t)b^{21}(t,w) \Big) - \frac{24}{c} \Delta h(t)b^{21}(t,w),
\delta(t-w) = \frac{12\Delta}{c\Pi_h(t)} \Big(\partial_t b^{21}(t,w) + 2h(t) \Big(b^{11}(t,w) - \Pi_h(t)b^{21}(t,w) \Big) \Big),
\delta(t-w) = \frac{12\Delta}{c} \Big(\partial_t b^{22}(t,w) + 2h(t) \Big(b^{12}(t,w) - \Pi_h(t)b^{22}(t,w) \Big) \Big),
0 = \partial_t \Big(b^{12}(t,w) - \Pi_h(t)b^{22}(t,w) \Big) + \frac{12}{c} \Delta h(t)b^{22}(t,w).$$
(4.13)

The relations

$$\int ds \{h(t), C_i(s)\} b^{i1}(s, w) = -\frac{\pi \delta(t - w)}{\Delta} \Pi_h(t),
\int ds \{h(t), C_i(s)\} b^{i2}(s, w) = -\frac{\pi \delta(t - w)}{\Delta} \tag{4.14}$$

imply the simplification of Dirac brackets involving h

$$[h(t^{+}), h(s^{+})] = -\frac{\pi}{\Delta} \partial_{t^{+}} \delta(t^{+} - s^{+}), \qquad (4.15)$$

$$[h(t^{+}), \rho(s^{+})] = -\frac{\pi}{\Delta} \delta(t^{+} - s^{+}) \Pi_{h}(s^{+}) = -\frac{\pi}{\Delta} \delta(t^{+} - s^{+}) \partial_{-} \rho(s^{+}),$$

$$[h(t^{+}), \Pi_{h}(s^{+})] = -\frac{\pi}{\Delta} (\Pi_{h}^{2} - \frac{6}{c} \Delta) \delta(t^{+} - s^{+}) = -\frac{\pi}{\Delta} \partial_{-}^{2} \rho \delta(t^{+} - s^{+}),$$

$$[h(t^{+}), \Pi_{\rho}(s^{+})] = \frac{\pi \Lambda}{4\Delta} e^{2\rho} \delta(t^{+} - s^{+}) - \frac{\pi}{\Delta} \Pi_{h}(t^{+}) \partial_{t^{+}} \delta(t^{+} - s^{+}).$$

$$(4.16)$$

The Dirac bracket containing ρ , however, requires solving the partial differential equation system (4.13),

$$[\rho(t^+), \rho(s^+)] = b^{11}(t^+, s^+). \tag{4.17}$$

In weak field perturbation theory this reduces at leading order to

$$[\rho(t^+), \rho(s^+)] = -\frac{1}{2}\Theta(t^+ - s^+), \tag{4.18}$$

with Θ the sign function.

4.3 Charges

The canonical forms of the Noether currents are, when the constraints are imposed

$$j_{\epsilon}^{-} = \frac{c}{6} \left(\Pi_{\rho} \partial_{+} \rho - h \partial_{+} \Pi_{h} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{+} \Pi_{\rho} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{+}^{2} \rho \right), \tag{4.19}$$

$$j_{\sigma}^{-} = 2\Delta h,$$
 (4.20)
 $j_{\epsilon}^{+} = j_{\sigma}^{+} = 0.$ (4.21)

$$j_{\epsilon}^{+} = j_{\sigma}^{+} = 0. \tag{4.21}$$

These generate the residual symmetries under the Dirac bracket

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \left[\int dt^{+}(\epsilon j_{\epsilon}^{-} + \sigma j_{\sigma}^{-}), \rho \right] = -\frac{1}{2} \partial_{+} \epsilon - \epsilon \partial_{+} \rho - \sigma \partial_{-} \rho,
\frac{1}{2\pi} \left[\int dt^{+}(\epsilon j_{\epsilon}^{-} + \sigma j_{\sigma}^{-}), h \right] = \partial_{+} \sigma - h \partial_{+} \epsilon - \epsilon \partial_{+} h.$$
(4.22)

Using the properties that

$$\int ds^{+} \{j_{\epsilon}^{-}(t^{+}), C_{i}(s^{+})\} b^{ij}(s^{+}, w^{+}) = 0, \qquad j = 1, 2,$$
(4.23)

the current-current commutators are obtained as

$$\begin{aligned}
[j_{\sigma}^{-}(t^{+}), j_{\sigma}^{-}(s^{+})] &= \pi k \, \partial_{t^{+}} \delta(t^{+} - s^{+}), \\
[j_{\epsilon}^{-}(t^{+}), j_{\sigma}^{-}(s^{+})] &= 2\pi j_{\sigma}^{-}(t^{+}) \partial_{t^{+}} \delta(t^{+} - s^{+}) \\
[j_{\epsilon}^{-}(t^{+}), j_{\epsilon}^{-}(s^{+})] &= 2\pi \partial_{t^{+}} \delta(t^{+} - s^{-}) (j_{\epsilon}^{-}(t^{+}) + j_{\epsilon}^{-}(s^{+})) \\
&\qquad \qquad - \frac{\pi c}{6} \partial_{t^{+}}^{3} \delta(t^{+} - s^{+}).
\end{aligned} (4.24)$$

This is a Virasoro Kac-Moody algebra with central charge c and level

$$k = -4\Delta. \tag{4.25}$$

We note that the sign of the level is the opposite of the sign of Δ , and in particular flips at $\Delta = 0$.

5 Coupling to matter

As discussed in action 3, the warped conformal symmetry arises as a residual subgroup of two-dimensional diffeomorphisms in chiral gauge. Therefore an infinite class of classical warped conformal field theories can be obtained simply by starting with any generally covariant theory (with a metric) in two dimensions, gauge fixing to chiral gauge and fixing $T_{--}^{matter} = \Delta/2$. This is similar to the procedure [15,16] which generates ordinary conformal field theories from two-dimensional generally covariant theories.

Let us illustrate it with a massive scalar field theory coupled to gravity in two dimensions. The covariant action is

$$S = S_L^0 - \frac{1}{2} \int d^2x \sqrt{-g} (g^{ab} \partial_a \phi \partial_b \phi + m^2 \phi^2). \tag{5.1}$$

In chiral gauge this becomes

$$S = S_L^0 + \int dt^+ dt^- (\partial_+ \phi \partial_- \phi + h \partial_- \phi \partial_- \phi - \frac{m^2}{4} e^{2\rho} \phi^2), \tag{5.2}$$

from which one can derive the corrections to the currents and Dirac brackets. This has many obvious generalizations.

We note that (5.2) differs from the usual conformal gauge result only by the middle term. It may be possible to think of the chiral theory as a usual conformal field theory deformed by this term. In conformal field theory language h, being proportional to a right moving current, is dimension (1,0), while $(\partial_-\phi)^2$ is dimension (0,2). Hence the middle term resembles a dimension (1,2) operator. Such deformations indeed have very special properties. They have been studied in the context of warped conformal field theories and the Kerr/CFT correspondence in [8,10,24] and are related to IR limits of the dipole deformed gauge theories [25-27]. This connection merits further investigation.

6 Quantum theory

In this paper we have described the classical Liouville gravity in chiral gauge, found the residual symmetry, shown that it is classically soluble and constructed the currents and Dirac brackets. The status of chiral Liouville theory hence is roughly that of ordinary conformal gauge Liouville theory three decades ago [28–31]. In the intervening period, ordinary Liouville theory has been found to have an extraordinarily rich and beautiful structure at the quantum level, see e.g. [20,32–35]. It is natural to try to construct a quantum version of chiral Liouville theory. In principle, the quantum theory is

defined by turning the Dirac brackets of section 4 into quantum commutators. However because of the chiral nature of the residual symmetry, it is not obvious that a regulator can be found which preserves the symmetry or that the quantum theory exists at all. If it does exist, it should have a structure comparable in richness to the ordinary Liouville theory. Perhaps there is a transformation which maps the ordinary Liouville correlators to those of the chiral Liouville theory. We leave this issue to future investigations.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by NSF grant 1205550. W.S. is supported in part by the Harvard Society of Fellows, G.C. is a Research Associate of the Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique F.R.S.-FNRS (Belgium) and A.S is a Fellow at the Radcliffe Institute for Advanced Study.

References

- [1] A. Belavin, A. M. Polyakov, and A. Zamolodchikov, "Infinite Conformal Symmetry in Two-Dimensional Quantum Field Theory," *Nucl. Phys.* **B241** (1984) 333–380.
- [2] D. Anninos, W. Li, M. Padi, W. Song, and A. Strominger, "Warped AdS3 Black Holes," *JHEP* **03** (2009) 130, 0807.3040.
- [3] G. Compère and S. Detournay, "Semi-classical central charge in topologically massive gravity," Class. Quant. Grav. 26 (2009) 012001, 0808.1911.
- [4] M. Guica, T. Hartman, W. Song, and A. Strominger, "The Kerr/CFT Correspondence," Phys. Rev. D80 (2009) 124008, 0809.4266.
- [5] A. Castro and F. Larsen, "Near Extremal Kerr Entropy from AdS(2) Quantum Gravity," JHEP 0912 (2009) 037, 0908.1121.
- [6] G. Compère and S. Detournay, "Boundary conditions for spacelike and timelike warped AdS3 spaces in topologically massive gravity," *JHEP* 08 (2009) 092, 0906.1243.

- [7] G. Compère, S. de Buyl, S. Detournay, and K. Yoshida, "Asymptotic symmetries of Schrodinger spacetimes," *JHEP* 0910 (2009) 032, 0908.1402.
- [8] M. Guica, K. Skenderis, M. Taylor, and B. van Rees, "Holography for Schrodinger backgrounds," 1008.1991.
- [9] D. M. Hofman and A. Strominger, "Chiral Scale and Conformal Invariance in 2D Quantum Field Theory," *Phys.Rev.Lett.* 107 (2011) 161601, 1107.2917.
- [10] S. El-Showk and M. Guica, "Kerr/CFT, dipole theories and nonrelativistic CFTs," *JHEP* **1212** (2012) 009, 1108.6091.
- [11] W. Song and A. Strominger, "Warped AdS3/Dipole-CFT Duality," JHEP 1205 (2012) 120, 1109.0544.
- [12] M. Guica, "A Fefferman-Graham-Like Expansion for Null Warped AdS(3)," 1111.6978.
- [13] T. Azeyanagi, D. M. Hofman, W. Song, and A. Strominger, "The Spectrum of Strings on Warped $AdS_3 \times S^3$," 1207.5050.
- [14] S. Detournay, T. Hartman, and D. M. Hofman, "Warped Conformal Field Theory," 1210.0539.
- [15] F. David, "Conformal Field Theories Coupled to 2D Gravity in the Conformal Gauge," *Mod. Phys. Lett.* **A3** (1988) 1651.
- [16] J. Distler and H. Kawai, "Conformal Field Theory and 2D Quantum Gravity Or Who's Afraid of Joseph Liouville?," Nucl. Phys. B321 (1989) 509.
- [17] V. Knizhnik, A. M. Polyakov, and A. Zamolodchikov, "Fractal Structure of 2D Quantum Gravity," *Mod. Phys. Lett.* **A3** (1988) 819.
- [18] R. Jackiw, "Liouville field theory: a two-dimensional model for gravity?," In Christensen, S.m. (Ed.): Quantum Theory Of Gravity, 403-420 (1982).
- [19] N. Seiberg, "Notes on quantum Liouville theory and quantum gravity," *Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl.* **102** (1990) 319–349.

- [20] J. Teschner, "Liouville theory revisited," Class. Quant. Grav. 18 (2001) R153-R222, hep-th/0104158.
- [21] A. M. Polyakov, "Quantum Gravity in Two-Dimensions," *Mod. Phys. Lett.* **A2** (1987) 893.
- [22] G. Compère, W. Song, and A. Strominger, "New Boundary Conditions for AdS_3 ," (2013) 1303.xxxx.
- [23] O. Coussaert, M. Henneaux, and P. van Driel, "The asymptotic dynamics of three-dimensional Einstein gravity with a negative cosmological constant," Class. Quant. Grav. 12 (1995) 2961–2966, gr-qc/9506019.
- [24] G. Compère, W. Song, and A. Virmani, "Microscopics of Extremal Kerr from Spinning M5 Branes," *JHEP* **1110** (2011) 087, 1010.0685.
- [25] A. Bergman and O. J. Ganor, "Dipoles, twists and noncommutative gauge theory," *JHEP* **0010** (2000) 018, hep-th/0008030.
- [26] K. Dasgupta, O. J. Ganor, and G. Rajesh, "Vector deformations of N=4 superYang-Mills theory, pinned branes, and arched strings," JHEP 0104 (2001) 034, hep-th/0010072.
- [27] A. Bergman, K. Dasgupta, O. J. Ganor, J. L. Karczmarek, and G. Rajesh, "Nonlocal field theories and their gravity duals," *Phys.Rev.* D65 (2002) 066005, hep-th/0103090.
- [28] T. L. Curtright and C. B. Thorn, "Conformally Invariant Quantization of the Liouville Theory," *Phys.Rev.Lett.* **48** (1982) 1309.
- [29] E. D'Hoker and R. Jackiw, "Liouville Field Theory," *Phys.Rev.* **D26** (1982) 3517.
- [30] J.-L. Gervais and A. Neveu, "New Quantum Treatment of Liouville Field Theory," *Nucl. Phys.* **B224** (1983) 329.
- [31] E. D'Hoker, D. Z. Freedman, and R. Jackiw, "SO(2,1) invariant quantization of the liouville theory," *Phys. Rev.* **D28** (1983) 2583.

- [32] A. B. Zamolodchikov and A. B. Zamolodchikov, "Structure constants and conformal bootstrap in Liouville field theory," Nucl. Phys. B477 (1996) 577–605, hep-th/9506136.
- [33] V. Fateev, A. B. Zamolodchikov, and A. B. Zamolodchikov, "Boundary Liouville field theory. 1. Boundary state and boundary two point function," hep-th/0001012.
- [34] J. Teschner, "Remarks on Liouville theory with boundary," hep-th/0009138.
- [35] L. F. Alday, D. Gaiotto, and Y. Tachikawa, "Liouville Correlation Functions from Four-dimensional Gauge Theories," *Lett.Math.Phys.* **91** (2010) 167–197, 0906.3219.